UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
PHILADELPHIA REGIONAL OFFICE
ONE PENN CENTER
1617 JFK BLVD., STE. 520

PHILADELPHIA, PENNSYLVANIA 19103

JOHN V. DONNELLY Il

SENIOR TRIAL COUNSEL
(215) 861-9670

Donnellyj@sec.gov

October 9, 2018
Via Facsimile RECEIVED

Honorable Cameron Elliot ocT 10 L
Administrative Law Judge CFEIGE OF THE SECRETARY
Office of Administrative Law Judges

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission

100 F. Street, N.E.

Washington, DC 20549 '

Re:  Inthe Matter of Gregory Reyftmann, Admin. Proc. File No. 3-17959

Dear Judge Elliot:

Per Your Honor’s Order on September 18, 2018, we write to notify Your Honor that
Respondent Gregory Reyftmann has not contacted the Division of Enforcement in connection
with this matter. On September 20, 2018, the Division of Enforcement sent Reyftmann notice of
the September 18 Order via Federal Express International Delivery and requested that he contact
the undersigned on or before October 5, 2018 to discuss a joint proposal for further proceedings.
A true and correct copy of the September 20, 2018 letter from John Donnelly to Gregory
Reyftmann and the enclosures thereto are attached as Exhibit 1. A true and correct copy of the
proof of mailing is attached as Exhibit 2. The mailing was delivered to Reyftmann’s address on
September 24, 2018, where it was signed for by M. Reyftmann. A true and correct copy of the
proof of delivery is attached as Exhibit 3. However, Reyftmann has not contacted the Division
of Enforcement.

Accordingly, the Division of Enforcement submits the following requests as its proposal.
First, based on the Division of Enforcement’s prior submissions regarding service of the Order
Instituting Administrative Proceedings, specifically the Declaration of John Donnelly filed May
26, 2017 and the Second Declaration of John Donnelly dated June 23, 2017 and the attachments
thereto, that Your Honor find that Reyfimann was served with the Order Instituting
Administrative Proceedings. And, second, based on the prior submission of the Motion for
Default and Sanctions Pursuant to Rule 155 of the Commission Rules of Practice, filed August
11, 2017, that Your Honor issue a default judgment against Reyftmann, granting the requested
relief—barring Respondent from association with any broker or dealer and from participating in
the offer of any penny stock.


mailto:Donnellyj@sec.gov

Pursuant to the September 18 Order, the undersigned confirms that he is available at
Your Honor’s convenience for a telephonic conference during the period October 15 to October
26,2018.

Respectfully submitted,

(otn V. Dol sk

John V. Donnelly III
Enclosures

cc: Gregory Reyftman (via Federal Express International Delivery)



EXHIBIT 1



UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
PHILADELPHIA REGIONAL OFFICE
ONE PENN CENTER
1617 JFK BLVD., STE. 520
PHILADELPHIA, PENNSYLVANIA 19103

JOHN V. DONNELLY lll

SENIOR TRIAL COUNSEL
(215) 861-9670

Donnellyj@sec.gov

September 20, 2018

Via Federal Express International

Mr. Gregory Reyftmann

9 Avenue Jean Baptiste Charcot
34740 Vendargues

France

Re:  In the Matter of Gregory Reyftmmann, Admin. Proc. File No. 3-17959

Dear Mr. Reyftmann:

I am an attorney with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and write
regarding the above matter. On August 22,2018, the Securities and Exchange Commission
vacated orders issued in certain administrative proceedings, including the matter identified above
in which you are the respondent. For your convenience, a copy of that order is enclosed. On
September 12, 2018, Chief Administrative Law Judge Murray issued an order transferring this
matter to Administrative Law Judge Elliott for further proceedings. A copy of that order is also
enclosed. On September 18, 2018, Administrative Law Judge Elliott issued an order requiring
the parties to meet and confer regarding a schedule for this matter (the “September 18 Order™).
A copy of the September 18 Order is enclosed as well. Pursuant to the September 18 Order, as
soon as possible, please contact me to discuss this matter and a proposed schedule to submit
jointly to Administrative Law Judge Elliott. My phone number, email address, and mailing
address are in the header at the top of this letter. If [ do not hear from you by October 5, 2018, I
will so advise the Administrative Law Judge.

For your convenience, a courtesy copy of the Order Instituting Proceedings, In the Matter
of Gregory Reyfimann, dated May 1, 2017, is enclosed.


mailto:Donnellvi@rec.gov

Thank you for your attention to this matter.

Enclosures:

/flohn V. Donnelly II

H



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Before the
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Release No. 80568 / May 1, 2017

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING
File No. 3-17959

ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE

In the Matter of PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTION
15(b) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
GREGORY REYFTMANN, ACT OF 1934 AND NOTICE OF HEARING
Respondent.

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) deems it appropriate and in the
public interest that public administrative procecdings be, and hereby are, instituted pursuant to
Section 15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) against Gregory
Reyftmann (*Respondent” or “Reyftmann”).

!l‘
After an investigation, the Division of Enforcement alleges that:
A.  RESPONDENT

l. From February 2005 until June 2010, Reyfimann was a registered
representative associated with Linkbrokers Derivatives LLC (“Linkbrokers™), a broker-dealer
registered with the Commission. Reyftmann has not been associated with a registered entity since
his voluntary separation from Linkbrokers in 2010. At all relevant times, Reyfimann held Series 7,
24, 55 and 63 licenses, and he obtained his Series 24 license on January 21, 2009. Reyftmann, 43
years old, currently resides in France.



B.e OTHER RELEVANT ENTITIES AND INDIVIDUALSe

1. Linkbrokers, a Delaware limited liability company formed in 2002, was a
broker-dealer registered with the Commission from 2003 to September 2014, with its principal
place of business in New York, New York. On August 14, 2014, the Commission accepted
Linkbrokers’ Offer of Settlement and instituted administrative and cease-and-desist proceedings,
pursuant to Sections 15(b) and 21C of the Exchange Act, ordering that Linkbrokers (1) cease and
desist from committing or causing any violations and any future violations of Section 15(c) of the
Exchange Act, (2) is censured, and (3) pay disgorgement of $14,000,000 to the Commission. In the
Matter ofeLinkbrokers Derivatives LLC, File No. 3-16017 (Aug. 14, 2014).

2e Benjamin Chouchane (“Chouchane”), 42 ycars old, was a registerede
representative who acted as a sales broker at Linkbrokers from February 2005 until December 2010.
On June 12, 2013, he pled guilty in a criminal case arising from the same conduct discussed herein,
United States v. Leszczynski, No. 12-cr-00923 (S.D.N.Y.). On November 14, 2013, he was
sentenced to twenty-four months imprisonment, two years of supervised release, and was ordered to
pay $5 million in restitution. On January 14, 2014, a final judgment was entered by consent
against Chouchane, permanently enjoining him from future violations of Section 17(a) of the
Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
thereunder, and ordering him to pay $2,449,577 in disgorgement and prejudgment interest, in the
related case SEC v. Leszczynski, et al., Civil Action No. 12-cv-07488 (S.D.N.Y.). The
Commission subsequently accepted Chouchane’s Offer of Settlement and instituted administrative
proceedings, pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act, ordering that Chouchane be barred
from association with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal securities dealer, or transfer
agent, and from participating in any offering of a penny stock. In the Matter of Benjamin
Chouchane, File No. 3-15739 (Feb. 4, 2014).

3.e  Marek Leszczynski (“Leszczynski™), 46 years old, was a registerede
representative who acted as a sales broker at Linkbrokers from March 2005 until December 2010.
On August 20, 2013, he pled guilty in a criminal case arising from the same conduct discussed
herein, United States v. Leszczynski, No. 12-cr-00923 (S.D.N.Y.). During his allocution when
pleading guilty for his role in the scheme, Leszczynski stated under oath that Reyftimann instructed
him on how to add markups to trades placed for customers. On January 30, 2014, he was sentenced
to eighteen months imprisonment, two years of supervised release, and ordered to pay $1.5 million
in restitution. On January 14, 2014, a final judgment was entered by consent against
Leszczynski, permanently enjoining him from future violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities
Act, and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, and ordering him to pay
$1.5 million in disgorgement, in the related case SEC v. Leszczynski, et al., Civil Action No. 12-
cv-07488 (S.D.N.Y.). The Commission subsequently accepted Leszczynski’s Offer of Settlemente
and instituted administrative proceedings, pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act, orderinge
that Leszczynski be barred from association with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipale
securities dealer, or transfer agent, and from participating in any offering of a penny stock. In thee
Matter of Marck Leszczynski, File No. 3-15738 (Feb. 4,2014).e




4.  Henry A. Condron (“Condron”), 37 years old, was a registerede
representative who acted as a sales trader and middle-office assistant at Linkbrokers from February
2005 until October 2010. On October 5, 2012, he pled guilty in a criminal case arising from the
same conduct discussed herein, United States v. Condron, No. 12-cr-768 (S.D.N.Y.). On February
20, 2014, he was sentenced to serve 18 months of probation and pay $207,675 in restitution. On
January 14, 2014, a final judgment was entered by consent against Condron, permanently
enjoining him from future violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, and Section 10(b) of
the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, and ordering him to pay $207,675 in disgorgement
and prejudgment interest, in the related case SEC v. Leszczynski, et al., Civil Action No. 12-cv-
07488 (S.D.N.Y.). The Commission subsequently accepted Condron’s Offer of Settlement and
instituted administrative proceedings, pursuantto Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act, ordering that
Condron be barred from association with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal
securities dealer, or transfer agent, and from participating in any offering of a penny stock. In the
Matter of Henry Condron, File No. 3-15740 (Feb. 4, 2014).

5. Aaron Nowak (“Nowak™), 37 years old, was aregistered representative whoe
acted as a sales trader and middle-office assistant at Linkbrokers from November 2004 until April
2011. On December 11, 2015, the Commission accepted Nowak's Offer of Settlement and
instituted administrative and cease-and-desist proceedings, pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities
Act, Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act, and Section 9(b) ofehe Investment Company Act of
1940, ordering that Nowak (1) cease and desist from committing or causing any violations and
any future violations of Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act, (2) be barred from
association with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal securities dealer, or transfer
agent; prohibited from serving or acting as an employee, officer, director, member of an advisory
board, investment adviser or depositor of, or principal underwriter for, a registered investment
company or affiliated person of such investment adviser, depositor, or principal underwriter, and
barred from participating in any offering of a penny stock, with the right to apply for reentry after
three years, and (3) pay a civil money penalty of $5,000 to the Commission. In the Matter of Aaron
Nowak, File No. 3-16999 (Dec. 11, 2015).

C. ENTRY OF THE INJUNCTIONe

l.e  On October 5, 2012, the Commission filed a complaint in the United Statese
District Court for the Southem District of New York against Reyftmann and others conceming the

same conduct described below. Securities and Exchange Commission v. Marek Leszczynski, et
al., Civil Action Number 1:12-cv-7488.

2.e On February 9, 2015, a final judgment by default was entered againste
Reyfimann, permanently enjoining him from future violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities
Act of 1933 (“Securities Act™) and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.

3. The allegations in the Commission’s complaint covered the same conduct ase
the allegations contained herein. Reyftmann failed to appear in the civil action and has not



acknowledged any wrongdoing or offered any assurances against future violations of the securities
laws.

De FRAUDULENT MARKUP/MARKDOWN SCHEMEe

le  From at least 2005 through at least February 2009 (the “‘relevant period”),e
Reyftmann and others perpetrated a fraudulent markup/markdown scheme by falsifying trade
execution prices and embedding hidden markups or markdowns on over 36,000 customer
transactions. Through this fraudulent scheme, Reyftmann and other Linkbrokers employees
involved in the scheme defrauded customers of $18.7 million.

2.e During the relevant period, Linkbrokers acted as an interdealer brokere
predominately for market counterparties and institutional customers dealing in equities and fixed
income products. Linkbrokers acted as an agent on behalf of its customers and consistently
marketed and advertised itself as an agency-only business, meaning Linkbrokers did not trade as a
principal in its own account. Linkbrokers executed large volumes of securities trades on behalf of
customers for low commissions. According to Linkbrokers’ internal records it was to charge its
customers flat commission rates between $0.005 and $0.02 per share.

3.e  Reyftmann was the head of Linkbrokers’ “Cash Desk” during the relevante
period, and Chouchane and Leszczynski were sales brokers on the Cash Desk. Reyfimann,
Chouchane and Leszczynski were responsible for finding customers, developing relationships, and
taking orders from customers to purchase and sell securities on their behalf. Reyfimann led the
fraudulent scheme and urged and encouraged others on the Cash Desk to participate in it. Condron
and Nowak served as “middle-oflice assistants” who maintained and updated Linkbrokers’ intemale
“trade blotter,” which was a software-generated spreadsheet that contained detailed informatione
about trades executed by the Cash Desk. The trade blotter contained three separate price fields: (1)
the actual execution price received by Linkbrokers; (2) the gross price—the price that included an
undisclosed markup/markdown; and (3) the net price—the gross price plus the agreed upon
commission.

4.  The undisclosed markup/markdown scheme generally worked as follows.e
Reyfimann or another sales broker involved in the scheme (Chouchane or Leszczynski) would
receive a customer order either by telephone, instant message, or email. The sales broker would
give the order to a sales trader, who executed the trade. After the order was executed, a middle-
office assistant recorded the actual execution price on the trade blotter and informed the sales
broker of the execution. Shortly after the trade was executed, Reyftmann or another sales broker
involved in the scheme examined other market executions in or around the time of the actual
execution, to determine whether there was any stock price fluctuation. Ifthere was sufficient stock
price fluctuation at the time of the trade sufficient to conceal the fraud from the customer, the sales
broker instructed the middle-office assistant to record a false execution price in the gross price field
on the internal trade blotter. The middle-office assistant and/or the sales broker then reported the
gross price (i.e. the false execution price) to the customer as the actual execution price, and tacked
on the agreed-upon commission to arrive at the net price. The customers thus paid not only the
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agreed-upon commission charged, but also the fraudulent secret profit that Reyftmann or one of his
cohorts embedded in the price they reported to the customer as the actual trade price.

S. For example, on February 3, 2005 at 9:44 a.m., a customer sent Reyfimann
an email placing an order to sell short 16,000 shares of Mercury Interactive Corp. (“MERQ”).
Linkbrokers then executed the trade, short-selling 16,000 shares of MERQ on the customer’s
behalf at $47.6390 per share. The trade blotter reflected an execution price of $47.6390, a gross
price of $47.5390, and a net price of $47.5290. At 9:57 a.m., Reyftimann emailed the customer a
trade recap confirming the trade at the false execution price of $47.5390 per share. The
commission for this transaction was $0.01 per share, resulting in a total commission of $160 for
this trade, which Linkbrokers charged the customer. However, Reyftmann failed to disclose the
additional fraudulent markdown of $1,600.

6. Reyfimann knew that the prices and/or commissions that he, the other
participants in the scheme, and Linkbrokers reported to their customers were false because he
knew the prices at which the transactions were actually executed were different from the gross
prices reported to the customers, and because he and the others involved in the scheme created the
fictitious gross prices themselves.

7. Reyftmann also knew that the purpose of reporting the gross price to
customers as the actual execution prices was to take a secret profit for Linkbrokers above the
agreed-upon commission. On February 7, 2005, Reyftmann, Condron and others received an
email from an officer of Linkbrokers’ parent company explaining that the additional gross price
field on the trade blotter was necessary “for those trades that you do where you can actually
execute the trade at a better price than you agree with the client (i.e. where you can make a couple
of cents even before you’ve added in the commission).” In other emails, an IT specialist described
to Reyftmann, among others, that Linkbrokers’ proprietary software has two different commission
fields—one for actual total commission charged and one for the commission amount that would be
provided to the customer. Reyftmann also received an email in which Condron requested that the
IT specialist ensure that the customer will ““never see the execution price” on any customer
statements or trade confirmations.

8. Reyflmann and the others involved in the fraud ensured the scheme was
difficult for customers to detect by selectively engaging in it only when the volatility in the
market was sufficient to conceal the fraud.

E. FRAUDULENT LIMIT ORDER PROFIT-STEALING SCHEME

1. At times during the relevant period, Reyftmann and some of his colleagues
employed a second scheme to defraud customers. Specifically, at times, when a customer placed a
limit order and there was a favorable intraday movement in the price of the security, Reyftlmann
instructed others to take advantage of favorable intraday price movements to steal a piece of a
profitable customer trade. '



2.e A “limit order” refers to an order to buy or sell a security at a specific pricee
or better. For example, a customer could place a limit order to buy 100 shares of ABC stock at a
price not greater than $10.00 per share. If the broker can fill the order at that price or better, it
should do so. But if the price of ABC stock is above the price specified by the customer in the
limit order, the shares will not be purchased.

3.e  The limit order scheme was conducted as follows. When a customer placede
a limit order, a member of the Cash Desk would execute it in full. Instead of reporting the full
transaction to the customer, however, Reyftmann would look for an opportunity to buy or sell the
same stock at a better price than the price at which the customer’s trade was executed. When such
a circumstance arose, Reyftmann instructed the sales trader to either buy back some shares at the
now-lower price or resell some shares at the now-higher price, and keep the profit. Then
Reyftmann instructed members of the Cash Desk to falsely report to the customer that they were
only able to execute a portion of the limit order at the requested price. They did not disclose to
their customers that they had improperly bought back or sold a portion of the full order for their
own benefit.

4.e  For example, on April 26, 2007 from 2:48 p.m. until 2:49 p.m., Linkbrokerse
executed a customer’s order to sell 22,576 shares of Qualcomm, Inc. (*QCOM?") at an average
price of $45.7500. At 3:41 p.m., Linkbrokers bought back 3,000 shares—shares that should have
been allocated to the customer—for an average price of $45.3500. At 4:30 p.m. a member of the
Cash Desk falsely reported to the customer that Linkbrokers was only able to sell 19,576 shares for
the customer and was not able to fill the remaining shares ordered by the customer. At 4:40 p.m.,
despite having sold 22,576 shares, Linkbrokers allocated sell executions representing only 19,576
shares of QCOM to its customer for a gross execution price of $45.7500 per share. Linkbrokers
recognized an additional secret profit of approximately $1,200 on the purchase of the 3,000 shares.
Linkbrokers did not inform the customer of its sale of&,000 QCOM shares that should have been
allocated to the customer. Instead, Linkbrokers only disclosed that it received a commission of
$135.07 on the customer’s sale of 19,576 shares.

5. Reyftmann and the other participants in the scheme knew that they weree
making misstatements to the customer when they represented, either orally or in writing, that they
had been unable to fill a particular limit order in its entirety, since they were aware that the order
had initially been fully executed.

F. REYFTMANN PROFITED FROM THE FRAUDULENT SCHEMESe

l.e  Reyfimann and the other Linkbrokers’ employees involved in the fraud usede
these two fraudulent schemes to steal from customers on over 36,000 customer transactions placed
through the Cash Desk over a period of more than four years. Overall, approximately 40% of the
revenue generated from trading on the Cash Desk during the relevant period was attributable to the
fraudulent schemes, for a total of $18.7 million in fraudulent profits.



2. Reyflmann’s compensation was directly tied to the Cash Desk’s gross
revenue. Reyfimann received substantial performance bonuses because he and others
substantially increased revenue through the fraudulent schemes described above. As set forth in
the table below, Reyftmann realized over $3 million in ill-gotten gains from the fraudulent
schemes. This amount was calculated by multiplying the bonus Reyfimann received for a
particular year by the percentage of the profits of the Cash Desk attributable to the fraudulent
schemes during that year:

Year Reyftmann’s Bonus Percentage of Cash Reyfimann’'s lll-gotten
Desk’s Revenue Gains From the Fraud
Attributable to the
Fraud

2005 $992,098 39% $386,918

2006 $1,284,383 51% $655,035

2007 $2,407,288 28% $674,040

2008 $3,451,947 2% $1,449,817

2009 $1,820,759 0.4% $7,283

TOTAL of $3,181,068

Reyftmann’s Ill-

gotten Gains

In view of the allegations made by the Division of Enforcement, the Commission deems it
necessary and appropriate in the public interest that public administrative proceedings be instituted
to determine:

A. Whether the allegations set forth in Section Il hereof are true and, in connection
therewith, to afford Respondent an opportunity to establish any defenses to such allegations;

B. What, if any, remedial action is appropriate in the public interest against Respondent
pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act;

C. Whether, pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act, it is appropriate and in the
public interest to bar Respondent from participating in any offering of penny stock, including:
acting as a promoter, finder, consultant, agent or other person who engages in activities with a
broker, dealer, or issuer for purposes of the issuance or trading in any penny stock; or inducing or
attempting to induce the purchase or sale of any penny stock.
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IV.

IT IS ORDERED that a public hearing for the purpose of taking evidence on the questions
set forth in Section 11 hereof shall be convened at a time and place to be fixed, and before an
Administrative Law Judge to be designated by further order as provided by Rule 110 of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.110.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall file an Answer to the allegations
contained in this Order within twenty (20) days after service of this Order, as provided by Rule 220
of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.220.

If Respondent fails to file the directed answer, or fails to appear at a hearing after being duly
notified, the Respondent may be deemed in default and the proceedings may be determined against
him upon consideration of this Order, the allegations of which may be deemed to be true as
provided by Rules 155(a), 220(f), 221(f) and 310 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R.
§§ 201i155(a), 201.220(f), 201.221(f) and 201.310.i

This Order shall be served upon Respondent as provided for in Rule 141(a)@2 Xiv) of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R § 201.141(a)(2)(iv).

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Administrative Law Judge shall issue an initial
decision no later than 75 days from the occurrence of the following events, pursuant to Rule
360(a)(2) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice: (1) the completion of post-hearing briefing in a
proceeding where the hearing has been completed; or (2) the completion of briefing ona § 201.250
motion in the event the hearing officer has determined that no hearing is necessary; or (3) the
determination by the hearing officer that, pursuant to § 201.155, a party is deemed to be in default
and no hearing is necessary.

In the absence ofian appropriate waiver, no officer or employee of the Commission engaged
in the performance of investigative or prosecuting functions in this or any factually related
proceeding will be permitted to participate or advise in the decision of this matter, except as witness
or counsel in proceedings held pursuant to notice. Since this proceeding is not “rule making™ within
the meaning of Section 551 of the Administrative Procedure Act, it is not deemed subject to the
provisions of Section 553 delaying the effective date of any final Commission action.

By the Commission.

Brent J. Fields
Sccretary



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
before the
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
Release No. 10536 / August 22, 2018

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Release No. 83907 / August 22, 2018

INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
Release No. 4993 / August 22, 2018

INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940
Release No. 33211 / August 22, 2018

Inre;
Pending Administrative Proceedings | CRPER

On November 30, 2017, we ratified the appointments of Chief Administrative Law Judge
Brenda Mwiray and Administrative Law Judges Carol Fox Foelak, Cameron Elliot, James E.
Grimes, and Jason S. Patil to the office of administrative law judge in the Securities and
Exchange Commission." In an abundance of caution and for avoidance of doubt, we today
reiterate our approval of their appointments as our own under the Constitution.

In light of the Supreme Court’s decision in Lucia v. SEC,> we previously stayed any
pending administrative proceeding initiated by an order instituting proceedings that commenced
the proceeding and set it for hearing before an AL), including any such proceeding currently
pending before the Commission.” We now find it prudent to allow the stay to expire effective

today, August 22, 2018.

With respect to any such proceeding currently pending before an ALJ or the Commission,
we order that respondents be provided with the opportunity for a new hearing before an ALJ who
did not previously participate in the matter. We remand all proceedings currently pending before
the Commission to the Office of Administrative Law Judges for this purpose and vacate any

! Order, Exchange Act Release No. 82178, 2017 WL 5969234 (Nov. 30, 2017); see also
SEC Ratifies Appointment of Administrative Law Judges, hitps://www .sec.gov/news/press-

release/2017-215 (Nov. 30, 2017).
2 138 S. Ct. 2044 (2018).

3 Order, Exchange Act Release No. 83675, 2018 WL 3494802 (July 20, 2018); Order,
Exchange Act Release No. 83495, 2018 WL 3193858 (June 21, 2018).


https://www.sec.gov/news/press
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prior opinion we have issued in the matter. A list of matters is attached as Exhibit A. In these
matters, as well as the matters currently pending before an ALJ, we direct the conduct of further
proceedings consistent with this order and the Court’s decision in Lucia v. SEC. The ALJs are
directed to notify the parties in the cases pending before them of this order.

Any pending deadlines in each administrative proceeding currently pending before an
AL or remanded to the Office of Administrative Law Judges, as described above, are hereby
vacated and superseded by the procedures and deadlines set forth in this order. In each such
proceeding, absent express agreement by the parties regarding alternative procedures, the Chief
Administrative Law Judge shall by rotation to the extent practicable dwguate an ALJ who did
not previously participate in the matter to be the presiding hearing officer.* Any agreement by
the parties regarding alternative procedures shall be submitted to the Chief Administrative Law
Judge by September 7, 2018. In all cases, assignments shall be made no later than September 21,
2018.

The assigned ALJ shall exercisc the full powers conferred by the Commission’s Rules of
Practice and the Administrative Procedure Act and shall not give weight to or otherwise presume
the comrectness of any prior opinions, orders, or rulings issued in the matter.> Within 21 days ofe
being assigned to the proceeding, the ALJ shall issue an order directing the parties to submit
proposals for the conduct of further proceedings. After considering the parties’ submissions, the
ALJ shall hold a new hearing and prepare an initial decision; but if a party fails to submit a
pmposal the ALJ may enter a default against that party pmsnant to Rule of Practice 155 or
impose another appropriate sanction under Rule of Practice 180.°

The Rules of Practice as amended on July 13, 2016 shall govemn all pendmg
proceedings,” unless the presiding ALJ determines, after giving the parties notice and an

4 17 C.F.R. § 200.30-10(a)(2).
5 E.g., Rule of Practice 111, 17 C.F.R. § 201.111; 5 U.S.C. § 556.
6 17 C.F.R §§ 201.155, .180.

7 In proceedings instituted before the effective date of the amended Rules of Practice, the
Commission directed the ALJ to issue an initial decision within 120, 210, or 300 days of service
of the OIP; for purposes of applying the amended Rules of Practice to such proceedings, they
shall be deemed proceedings under the 30-, 75-, or 120-day timeframes, respectively, as
specified in Rule of Practice 360(a)(2). In all proceedings, the ALJ shall compute the deadlines
for scheduling a hearing and issuing an initial decision as specified in amended Rule of Practice
360(a)(2) from the date the proceeding is assigned to a hearing officer pursuant to this order,
rather than the date of service of the relevant order instituting proceedings. The deadlines stated
in this order confer no procedural or substantive rights on any party, and the presiding ALJ may,
for good cause shown, modify any of them, including the date by which the initial decision must
beissued. This grant of authority allowing the presiding ALJ to modify the deadlines stated in
(footnote continued...)
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opportunity to be heard, that application of a particular amended rule in a proceeding instituted
prior to their effective date would not be just and practicable or otherwise would work a manifest
injustice under the circumstances of that case, in which case the former rule applies.

This order does not preclude the Commission from assigning any proceeding to the
Commission itself or to any member of the Commission at any time.

By the Commission.

Brent J. Fields
Secretary

By: Lynn M. Powalski
Deputy Secretary

(. .. continued)

this order supersedes the provisions in Rule of Practice 360(a)(3)(i) and (ii) goveming the
circumstances under which the deadlines to issue initial decisions may be extended.
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File No. 3-18378

AFN, Inc., et al., File No. 3-17743

Alexandre S. Clug, File No. 3-16318

Altovida Inc., et al., File No. 3-18104

American Magna Corp., et al., File No. 3-18105

American-Swiss Capital, Inc., et al., File No. 3-18156

Andrew Stitt, File No. 3-17621

Anthony C. Zufelt, File No. 3-17907

ARX Gold Corporation, File No. 3-18185

Atomic Paintball, Inc., et al., File No. 3-17991

Aurios, Inc., et al., File No. 3-18092

Axesstel, Inc., File No. 3-17941]

Axiom Oil & Gas Corp., et al., File No. 3-18096

Balqon Corporation, et al., File No. 3-18095

Baltia Air Lines, Inc., Graphite Corp., and 24Holdings, Inc.,, File No. 3-18472
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File No. 3-17104

BioPharma Manufacturing Solutions Inc., et al., File No. 3-18148
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Dearborn Bancorp, Inc., File No. 3-18223
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Before the
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, .C. 20519

Administrative Procecdings Rulings
Release No. 5955 / Septembher 12, 2018

Administrative Proceeding
File Nos. 3-13006. ct al.

Inre: Chief Administrative Law Judge’s
Pending Administrative Order Assigning Proceedings
Proceedings Post Lucia v. SECY

This arder accomplishes the Securities and IExchange Commission’s
directive that the Chief Administrative Law Judge assign each proceeding
affected by its August 22, 2018, order to an administrative law judge who had
not previously participated in the proceeding.  Pending Admin. Proc..
Sccurities Act of 1933 Release No. 10536, 2018 SEC LEXIS 2058,
hitpss/ivww.sec.govllitigation/opinions/2018/33- 10536.pd £ (Comm’n Order).

To accomplish the Commission’s directive. the Office of Administrative
Law Judges made 2 list ol affected cases with the identities of the
administrative law judges who previously participated in those proceedings.
Using the list and maintaining the assignment-hy-rotation system. | am
transferring Judge Cameron Elliot's cases to Judge Carol Fox Foelak. Judge
IFoelak's cases to Judge James E. Grimes. Judge Grimes's cases to me. and
my cases to Judge Elliot. Beeause Judge Jason S. Patil will not be available
to preside at hearings for the next several months. | am distributing most of
his pending cases among the other judges. The assigned judge will handle
the parties’ request in A.P. File No. 3-17990. | am not assigning A.P. File
Nos. 3-17253 and 3-17:312 at the present time.

The Commission gave parties until September 7. 2018, to express a
preference to remain with the previously assigned judge. JId. at 2. 1 did not
include proceedings where parties exercised a preference for remaining with
the previously assigned judge or AP. File Nos. 3-15974. 3-16349. and 3-
17550. pending resolution of settlement discussions. | also did not include

} 138 S. Ct. 2041 (2018).



A.P. File No. 3-16318 where the parties waived their right to a new hearing
and requested that the Commission decide their petitions for review on the
present record or A.P. File No. 3-17828 where the pro se litigant has
requested an explanation of what is happening.

Pursuant to delegated authority, 17 C.F.R. § 200.30-10(a)(2), I ORDER
the following administrative law judges to preside at the hearings in the
designated proceedings, listed below by their administrative proceeding file
numbers, and to perform other and related duties in accordance with the
Commission’s Rules of Practice.

Judge Cameron Elliot

3-154463 3-180373 3-182043
3-157833 3-180823 3-182073
3-169653 3-180913 3-182213
3-170293 3-181053 3-182523
3-171843 3-181263 3-183253
3-175953 3-181413 3-184223
3-176453 3-181463 3-184763
3-177163 3-181533 3-184853
3-178483 3-181573 3-184923
3-179353 3-181773 3-184963
3-179593 3-181793 3-185073
3-17984 - 3-179893 3-181853 3-185353
3-180073 3-181893 3-185523
3-180173

Judge Carol Fox Foelak

3-150063 3-179993 3-182233
3-151243 3-180043 3-182713
3-155143 . 3-180143 3-182923
3-162933 3-180383 3-183463
3-163863 3-180613 3-183473
3-167953 3-180813 3-183783
3-172283 3-180953 3-184053
3-173663 3-181043 3-184383
3-175583 3-181563 3-184603
3-176993 3-181733 3-184893
3-177433 3-181743 3-184903
3-17874 & 3-178753 3-181873 3-184973
3-178833 3-182013 3-185013
3-179903 3.182093 3-185083

3-179913

[



Judge James E. Grimes

3-151688 3-178888 3-18206
3-152658 3-179778 3-18208
3-161828 3-180788 3-18217
3-163538 3-180798 3-182208
3-170318 3-180928 3-182298
3-171048 3-180968 3-18288
3-171158 3-181038 3-184458
3-171328 3-181068 3-184508
3-175458 3-181298 3-184548
3-175468 3-181308 3-184618
3-175478 3-181428 3-184728
3-175488 3-181488 3-184838
3-175498 3-181628 3-184938
3-176218 3-18169 3-185068
3-176508 3-181888 3-185458
3-176938 3-181938 3-185508
3-177518 3-18203 3-18551
3-178498

Chief Judge Brenda P. Murray

3-163398 3-180978 3-18199
3-165098 3-180998 3-182028
3-166048 3-181078 3-18210
3-173528 3-181498 3-18219
3-17818 & 3-178198 3-181518 3-182768
3-178568 3-181568 3-184808
3-178868 3-181708 3-184818
3-179078 3-181768 3-18484
3-18023 3-181808 3-185008
3-180478 3-181908 3-185308
3-180778 3-181918 3-185348

Within twenty-one days of this order or by October 3, 2018, the assigned
judge shall issue an order directing the parties to submit proposals for the
conduct of further proceedings. Comm'n Order at 2. If a party fails to
participate in the proceeding or fails to submit a proposal, the judge may
enter a default against that party or impose another appropriate sanction.
See id. & n.6 (citing 17 C.F.R. §§ 201.155, .180).



LFURTHER ORDER that proceedings previously consolidated remaini
consolidated.

‘This order will be served on all parties by the Commission’s Office of the
Secretary. or other duly authorized Commission officer. pursuant to
Commission Rule of Practice 111, 17 C.F.R. § 201.141. The Commission’s
website at hetp/iwww.see.govialj has links to all issuances by Commission
administrative law judges and instructions for respondents that address
procedural questions, such as how to make filings.?

Civen this unusual situation. parties with procedural questions may
contact the Office of Administrative Law Judges and ask for the law clerk
assigned to the proceeding: (202) 551-G030 or ali@sec.gov. All filings must be
made with the Commission’s Office of the Seeretary and served on parties to
the proceeding. See 17 C.F.R. §§ 201.150-.152. If convenient. the parties are
asked to send electronic courtesy copies of ﬁlmgs to alj@sec.gov: email to the
administrative law judge does not, however, replace the required paper filing

with the Office of Lhe Secretary.

Brenda P. I\lurray
Chicf Administrative Law Judge

?»

2 The Commission’s  Rules of  Practice are located  at
htips:/iwww.sec.gov/about/rules-of-practice-2018.pdf.

.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Before the

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Administrative Proceedings Rulings
Release No. 6000 / September 18, 2018

Administrative Proceeding
File No. 3-17959

In the Matter of
Order Following Reassignment
Gregory Reyftmann

This proceeding was assigned to me following the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s order dated August 22, 2018, which vacated the prior finality order
entered in this proceeding and remanded this matter for further proceedings.
Pending Admin. Proc., Securities Act of 1933 Release No. 10536, 2018 SEC LEXIS
2058, at *2-3; Pending Admin. Proc., Admin. Proc. Rulings Release No. 5955, 2018
SEC LEXIS 2264 (ALJ Sept. 12, 2018). I direct the parties to submit proposals for
the conduct of further proceedings by October 9, 2018. The parties should confer
and, if possible, submit a joint proposal that reflects any agreement regarding
service of the order instituting proceedings (OIP) and addresses the numbered items
referenced in 17 C.F.R. § 201.221(c). The joint proposal or, in the absence of a joint
proposal, the parties’ separate proposals should also include the parties’ availability
between October 15 and October 26, 2018, for a telephonic prehearing conference.
If the Division of Enforcement is unable to contact Respondent, it should submit a
notice to that effect by October 9, 2018.

The previously assigned administrative law judge issued an initial decision on
default barring Respondent from association with any broker or dealer and from
participating in an offering of penny stock. If Respondent again fails to participate
by not submitting a proposal, and I find that he has been served with the OIP but
never filed an answer, I may enter an initial decision of default against him.
Pending Admin. Proc., 2018 SEC LEXIS 2058, at *4; 17 C.F.R. §§ 201.155(a)(2),
.220(f).

Cameron Elliot
Administrative Law Judge
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Fedtx.

Address Information

Shipment Receeipt

Ship to: Ship from:

Gregory Reylimann George Pond

Gregory Reyfumann SEEC

9 Avenue Jean Batiste 1617John F. Kennedy Bivd
Charcot

Suite 520
VENDARGUES. Philadelphia, PA
34740 19103
'R us
00000000 5641 2155970509

Shipment Information:

Tracking no.: 773284944706

Ship date: 09/20/2018

Estimated shipping charges: 31.32 USD

Package Information

Pricing option:

Service type: International Priority

Package type: FedEx Pak

Number of packages: |

Total weight: 3 1.BS

Declared Value: 0.00 USD

Special Services: Dircet signature required. Residential
Delivery

Pickup/Drop-ofT: Drop olT package at Fedlx location

Billing Information:

Bill transportation o: MyAccount-541
Bill dutics/taxes/fees 10: MyAccount-54 1|
Your reference:

P.0O.no.:

Invoice no.:

Department no.:

Thank you for shipping online with FedEx ShipManager at fedex.com.

Please Note

Address: 1500 MARKET ST
PHILADELPHIA
pA 19102

Locgt on: PSOKK

device 10: -B1C02

FedEx Express Package(s) = Dronmed Of
713284944706 (s) - Dropped Off

Total Pieces: 1

Sy_b_igct to additional charges, See Feglx Service Guide
at fedex.con For details. i) nerchandise sales final.n

Visit us at: fedex.con

Or'call 1.800.GoFedEx
1.800.463.3339

Sep 20, 2018 4:14:54 PH

e o — e e e

L BE [ ISTEN HErEas
. Teli us how we're doing
& :(faggéve a ;hs«i'ount on your next order!
206X .com/welisten or 800-398- .
Redemption Code: _“80 -0

e,

##2 Thunk you +#+

FOIka Wl NS EC FOIPONLty@ 12¢ ATy €157 A eveuss CF $100 RE? FACIOPC, ARCRr U0 resUE & 13e5. Girnyge. diidy, NIXNEeIvery, misCelnely, CF MIsN‘o(:aton, uress you cecare a
2707 VALD, P35 AN 220 SAWGR. SRR 3T DTN ICS3 and the 3 Loy cam Linlatons ks i o current F 02Ex Seraco Gudo agsy Your n3ht (o fecorer icm FecEs
137 30y 1033, MULENZ ALASC VAo VL UIC PITRITO 10SS CF 2%, CXNE £I0rest, frokl, attorncy’s Iees, custs, and ather forms Of GIM3G0 WHCRO! (iees, Wiocenta), consequental o
12eual s anded to tho greater of $100 of tho autionzued deckared valuo Resovery canndt oxped actual documented (0ss Manmum for tems of atianrdnary vaiue 1s $1000, 0 g .
JeWelry, FI0GOUS MELAIS, ALgoLabie nstrrnutits arg OIRCT oMms batext 1y vur Sonvico Curde Weilien claime st S Lot wathi sieet time bmas, Consult the appbeadle FedEx Sence

Gunao tor cetaus

Tho cswnated SAEMNY chxr50 indy bo B He:¢:M than the aztud Lhuiges for yeur Repment Diferonces inay octua hased on a2iudl woight, dmorsans, ind othot ators Censult 1o

2opieatie FedPy Seevce Guretic €: o Mot x Ruto SROCIS 157 00tals on bow shppaing charges aie coladated

htps://www. fedex.comdshipping/huni/en/Printl Frame.huml

9/20/2018


https://www.lcdcx.com!shipping/html/en/PrintlFrnmc.html
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September 24,2018

Dear Customer:

The following is the proof-of-delivery for tracking number 773284944706.

Delivery Information:

Status: Delivered Delivered to: Residence

Signed for by: M.REYFTMANN Delivery location: VENDARGUES
Service type: FedEx International Priority Delivery date: Sep 24, 2018 16:08
Special Handling: Deliver Weekday

Residential Delivery

Direct Signature Required

Signature image is available. In order to view image and detailed information, the shipper or payor account number of
the shipment must be provided.

Shipping Information:

Tracking number: 773284944706 Ship date: Sep 20, 2018
Weight: 0.6 Ibs/0.3 kg

Recipient: Shipper:

VENDARGUES FR PHILADELPHIA, PA US

Thank you for choosing FedEx.



STATEMENT OF FILING BY FACSIMILE

I hereby certify that, on this 9" day of October, 2018, with respect to In the Matter of

Gregom Reyftmann, Administrative Proceeding File No. 3-17959, I caused a true and correct copy

of the Letter from John Donnelly to Administrative Law Judge Elliot to be filed via facsimile with
the Office of the Secretary of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to SEC Rule
of Practice 151, 17 C.F.R. § 201.151. The facsimile was transmitted to (202) 772-9324.

This filing was served on Respondent Gregory Reyftmann by Federal Express International

Delivery as the Respondent resides in France and his facsimile number is not known.

gohn V. Donnelly I, éq.

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Philadelphia Regional Office

One Penn Center

1617 JFK Blvd., Suite 520

Philadelphia, PA 19103

(215) 597-3100 (telephone)

(215) 597-2740 (facsimile)

DonnellyJ@sec.gov

Counsel for the Division of Enforcement


mailto:DonnellyJ@sec.gov



